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PREFACE





Scriptwriters deal in small moments, building them into scenes, then sequences, then parts, and finally into some kind of coherent whole, a dramatic narrative. Directors and actors take over and… howzat! – a screen drama. With luck audiences are intrigued or reminiscent or frightened or repulsed – but, you hope, connected in some way to what’s happening on screen.


Enter Howzat! Kerry Packer’s War. At Southern Star Entertainment, after the 2011 success of Paper Giants: The Birth Of Cleo, a four-hour mini-series made for the ABC which introduced the character of Kerry Packer to TV drama, it was decided it’d be a good idea to do something more on this fascinating man. Research into Packer’s war – the one he had with the cricket Establishment in the late 1970s, signing up the cream of the world’s cricketers and setting up a whole anti-Establishment cricket system – showed that this guy and his cricket shenanigans were tailor-made for television. So a four-hour mini-series for the Nine Network went ahead.


But a book on Packer’s war was an entirely different proposition. In the first place writing a book – although it mightn’t look like it – is a different exercise than writing a screenplay. And secondly, and most importantly, apart from enjoying watching it, I know not much about cricket at all. The game is about weird things like popping creases and blockholes, third slips and silly midons, flippers and chinamen, sweeps and hooks, the late swing and the early declaration.


But as it turns out, cricket is much more than what happens on the field. It involves all sorts of arcane rituals and Gordian thinking. With the exception of chess (which you could say is not a ‘sport’) the five-day game is arguably humankind’s most complex and intricate sporting contest. Packer’s 1970s war revealed a game and a time in its history that was gladiatorial, wonderful, filled with characters you couldn’t possibly invent, moments of comedy, farce and true drama, all on top of a few centuries of rich anecdotal legend and myth.


Given all this, it struck me that a book on Kerry Packer’s World Series Cricket need not be about the game itself. The elements of culture, conflict and character – a screenwriter’s bread and butter – fill the story of Kerry and his iconoclastic band of sportsmen, so I thought I’d go with that.


I’d like to thank a series of people who helped out as I was putting first the screenplay then this book together, these absolutely indispensible players in the drama. Firstly, John and Delvene Cornell, Ian and Barbara Chappell and Tony and Vivian Greig, who all helped out with generosity and charm. And I want to thank others who kindly shared their time and their reminiscences, notably David Hill, Bruce Francis, Allan Johnston, Bill Macartney, Trevor Kennedy, Geoff Longland and Richie Benaud. And researchers Stephen Vagg in Sydney and Hester Abrams in London.


I also want to sincerely thank that gentlemanly doyen of Australian cricket writing, Gideon Haigh and his encyclopaedic knowledge. His definitive book The Cricket War: The Inside Story of Kerry Packer’s World Series Cricket is by any test the go-to volume for anyone wanting more detail on this fascinating chapter in cricket’s history and I recommend it.


Finally, I’d like to thank my friend and colleague at Southern Star, the unsinkable John Edwards. We’ve been making television drama now for 26 years – and we’re just warming up.
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SET UP





At 2 pm on the sunny afternoon of Tuesday, 28 November 1978, thousands of people began queuing at the Sydney Cricket Ground gates to get into what would become one of the most significant cricket matches in the history of the game. Since Shakespeare’s time the grand English sport had been played in the daytime, gradually developing over the centuries from a kid’s game in English paddocks to an adult competition between locals, then villages, then shires, then as the British Empire covered the globe, internationally.


Ten months earlier, night cricket – cricket under lights – had been tried as an experiment in Melbourne by ‘World Series Cricket’, the organisation set up by businessman Kerry Packer to promote the sport on his TV stations. Night cricket in Melbourne had been enough of a success for a million dollars to be spent putting up six huge lighting towers round the Sydney Cricket Ground (SCG) – a million-dollar gamble that Melbourne had not been a fluke. If people came to this SCG night game then cricket would never look back.


They did come. And how. So many people arrived that to save any kind of crowd mayhem, the gates were thrown open and a river of people flowed into the ground – women, men, kids, teenagers wanting to see their sporting heroes, young adults wanting to party, old farts wanting to see what all the fuss was about. They cheered and they sang and they laughed. As cricket crowds had done for centuries they applauded bowlers who took wickets, batsmen who scored runs and fielders who plucked impossible balls out of the air. They sang a new cricket anthem written especially for them, they ate and drank and enjoyed the night. Then they went home in the balmy evening and the huge lights went off.


This night had the cream of the world’s cricketers out there on the field – Australians versus West Indians – champion sportsmen playing an intoxicating match. But the game had a greater consequence – it was a tipping point in the evolution of cricket. Behind lay many years of green and lovely English sporting drama. Ahead lay the day–night game, millionaire professional cricketers, the shifting of cricket’s centre of gravity to the sub-continent and T20. After this sultry Sydney evening nothing about cricket would ever be quite the same again.
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World Series Cricket (WSC) had its origins 18 months earlier when Kerry Packer, younger son of the fearsome Sir Frank Packer, Chairman of Consolidated Press Holdings (CPH ), a media conglomerate and publisher of newspapers and magazines, decided he wanted to show cricket on his free-to-air network Channel 9. Kerry had taken the reins at the family company only two years earlier, in 1974, at the death of the old man. Long considered the ‘idiot son’ of Sir Frank, demeaned, belittled and bullied, often called ‘boofhead’ in public by his father, Kerry didn’t waste any time as soon as Dad was safely in the grave. His big brother Clyde was the heir apparent, but unlike Kerry who always took the bullying silently, Clyde, the smart one, the chosen one, shoved back at his father and the two had quarrelled. Knowing the extent of the estrangement between Sir Frank and Clyde at the time of his father’s death from cancer, young Kerry swept into CPH like a rat up a rope. According to Paul Barry, in his definitive 700-page biography of Kerry, the two brothers had a meeting and Kerry suggested coolly, ‘I’d better buy your shares’. He did. Clyde handed over one-eighth of the family company to his little brother for $4 million and with one stroke was neatly cut out of what would soon become a conglomerate worth billions. Clyde took himself off to America where he started a publishing company, putting out mostly surfing magazines, gained massive amounts of weight and eventually died.


Chain-smoking, Fanta, Coke and milkshake-drinking, hamburger-loving Kerry didn’t spend much time mourning his big brother; he was too busy building an empire. He hit the ground running, his first venture, begun just before his father’s death, was the ground-breaking women’s magazine Cleo. Under 35-year-old Kerry’s stewardship and with magazine virtuoso, 30-year-old Ita Buttrose as editor, Cleo was a smash hit from the start, expertly surfing feminism’s Second Wave. Cleo made money earlier, faster and more abundantly than anyone had thought possible. Kerry was on his way.


Kerry and Buttrose then revamped The Australian Women’s Weekly, at one stage, per capita, the world’s best-selling magazine. Begun in 1933 by his father, the old mag was now tired, dressed in yesterday’s clothing – especially now that Cleo was on the scene – and losing readers fast. Kerry and Buttrose redid the format, cutting it down and giving it a more contemporary look. It was a huge gamble – a move that would characterise Kerry’s approach to business in years to come. The Weekly’s readers were conservative, if not downright reactionary, skittish, averse to change and well used to the magazine’s 40-year-old tone and style. Kerry’s advice from various quarters was not to take the punt. Don’t change horses midstream, if it’s not broke, don’t try to fix it, and so on. The chances were high that this would be Kerry’s ‘New Coke’ – readers would take one sample of the new Weekly and keep their hands in their pockets.


But it paid off. Only months after Kerry and Buttrose’s courageous move, The Weekly was selling a million copies a week and even more dollars were pouring into Kerry’s shiny new coffers.


A man always interested in sport and by all accounts fascinated by and uncharacteristically humble in the presence of sportsmen, Kerry’s next venture would be into the world of golf. He had boxed well at school, was a handy batsman and some-time wicketkeeper in Geelong Grammar’s First XI and at his peak managed to get his golf handicap down to an impressive five. Later he would take up polo, his massive frame curiously in harmony with the tiny polo ponies he thrashed about the field. In 1975, hearing that the Australian Open Golf championship was on the lookout for a sponsor, Kerry slipped in with a quick $1 million offer to televise the Open on Channel 9 for three years. He then insisted that the Open be permanently housed at the Australian Golf Club in Sydney, in the same way the American Masters is always held at the Augusta National course in Georgia, and proceeded to tip another million into arranging for Jack Nicklaus – at the time the world’s premier golfer – to re-design the course. The new layout didn’t go down well with the world’s professionals as they considered it ridiculously difficult. But Jack wasn’t stupid, he loved it, and went on to win the first title easily. With Nicklaus as front man, innovative television coverage with cameras at every hole and more, Kerry’s Australian Open was a smash both on the course and on television. He was on a definite roll.


And now it was cricket’s turn. Kerry Packer decided to take his Cleo, his Women’s Weekly and his golf experience into a wider and far more complex arena. Asked during the years he was involved in promoting cricket why he was taking such a close personal interest in the minutiae of the enterprise he said, ‘My interest in cricket is no greater than if we were bringing out a new magazine … I’d be doing the same things for a new magazine, except that it would not be so visible or public’.


By simple fate he came into the game at a crucial moment in its history, three cricket planets were at the time moving into inexorable alignment and Kerry – one of the planets – found himself right there on the spot, ready to take advantage of the shift in the centre of the game’s gravity. When these three planets were finally aligned there was nothing on earth that could stop a cricket revolution.


In early 1976, with colour TV being taken up at an amazing rate and cricket looking fresh and exciting on screen, Kerry decided to set out on his new journey and make his move into cricket broadcasting for Channel 9. He contacted the Australian Cricket Board (ACB) alerting them to the fact that he wanted to bid for the rights to Sheffield Shield and Test cricket. After the board had ignored him for four months – a ridiculous miscalculation on their part – he was finally called in to a meeting in June. Kerry smelt a rat as soon as he walked into the rooms of the Victorian Cricket Association (VCA) to meet with ACB Chairman 60-year-old Bob Parish and 59-year-old Treasurer Ray Steele.


Various accounts of the origins of World Series Cricket give different versions of this historic meeting. But however it happened, Kerry hit them quickly with a bid for $1.5 million for exclusive television rights. It was seven times what the Australian Broadcasting Commission (ABC) were paying and it took their breath away.


‘After we recovered from the shock of his opening remarks and the amount of money, he was told there was no way we would consider exclusive rights because we had already entered into a commitment with the ABC,’ Steele later told the British High Court.


According to Kerry, ‘I had just walked in the door when Parish said they’d sold the non-commercial rights to the ABC. He knew why I was there – why I’d come to Melbourne. He knew too that I didn’t want to share with the ABC. The ABC doesn’t have to carry commercials and it’s obvious even to Blind Freddie, that if you have a choice of watching the ABC without commercials or a commercial station, you watch the ABC. I told them I’d pay $1.5 million for a three-year exclusive contract when the ABC’s contract expired in three years – I told them I’d sign there and then, half a million a year for three years. It was a lot more money than anyone had ever offered them – I knew that – I could tell by their looks’.


Kerry’s tactic of blowing them out of the water with a blast of money should have worked. It’s a tactic he learned well and used to perfection over the years.


But this meeting was more than a confrontation between three businessmen. Here in the elegant VCA room with its scattered historic cricket memorabilia and its sepia old cricketers glaring down from the walls, a classic encounter between generations was being played out – a confrontation between two old-school administrators and the restless, probing attitudes of a 1970s business tyro. Kerry was from a conservative moneyed background, brought up into privilege and always aware of his family’s elite position, despite his father’s rough edges and the old money claims that the family was still nouveau. Now, at last, he was doing it his way, understanding instinctively the changes that were sweeping Australia. The progressive Whitlam government had been comprehensively dumped only months earlier, but in four short years it had managed to usher in profound changes to the Australian political, social and cultural landscape that could never be undone. Kerry had nothing but contempt for Whitlam and his cronies, but he thought like them. He too was a man of the seventies. And Parish and Steele weren’t.


After a little argy-bargy Kerry, losing patience, came to the point, taking one last shot with his famous quote: ‘There’s a little bit of the whore in all of us, gentlemen. Name your price’. Steele remembers the words as, ‘We’re all harlots. How much do you want?’


Kerry’s version is better. It’s more elegant with just the right touch of larrikin, missing in Steele’s coldly direct wording. Whatever the words, Parish and Steele decided not to name their price. Possibly they later wished they had. Kerry stormed off and as the door closed behind him both men undoubtedly had the sinking feeling it wasn’t a smart move to piss this young man off. As it turned out, planet number one had moved significantly into position. Kerry was willing to tear cricket apart to get his way.
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The scene now changes to Neutral Bay, a middle-class suburb on Sydney’s leafy lower North Shore, where 35-year-old John Cornell, a shrewd, baby-faced character born and bred in Kalgoorlie was living with his then girlfriend Delvene Delaney, a model and TV actress. (They later married – at midnight on New Year’s Eve 1978 – ‘easy to remember,’ says Cornell.) He had moved as a young man to Perth from Kalgoorlie where he got a job as a journalist on the Perth Daily News, starting, coincidentally, on the same day as his friend Austin Robertson, known as ‘Ocker’, a Subiaco Football Club Australian Rules champion, and another young Perth wannabe named Michael Willessee.


Cornell and Willessee had quickly outgrown Perth and moved to Sydney to fulfil their individual destinies. They both fetched up at Channel 9 where Willessee became key man and star interviewer of A Current Affair, the channel’s brand-new current affairs half hour, and Cornell was a producer. Also on A Current Affair, doing a short comedy skit at the end – and being paid just $50 for it – was an ex-Harbour Bridge rigger, Paul Hogan. Cornell, seeing Hogan and deciding he was ‘the real deal’ took over as his manager and the two men took off like rabbits. They established themselves as ‘JP Productions’ (J for John, P for Paul), and within a few years were making hundreds of thousands of dollars with The Paul Hogan Show, featuring Hogan as ‘Hoges’, a loveable larrikin in stubbies and workboots delivering blokey insights on Australia and its people beside his thick-as-a-brick best mate ‘Strop’, played by Cornell. And they brought in Delvene to play the dumb blonde. It’s now part of Australian showbiz folklore how this clever trio created legendary television comedy out of playing three not-too-bright but you gotta love ’em, characters. Cornell, sharply intelligent, described playing the moronic Strop as ‘part of my relaxation’.


By the time Austin ‘Ocker’ Robertson decided to abandon Perth and catch up with his friend in Sydney in 1976, Cornell, Hogan and Delaney were three of the hottest stars on the seventies telly. Robertson is often referred to as ‘Austin Robertson Junior’ because his father (at one stage a world champion professional sprinter) was also Austin Robertson. Robertson Junior was delayed in Perth because he was busy being an Australian Rules football hero. As a full forward for Subiaco he tallied up a West Australian National Football League record of 1211 goals, kicked more than 100 goals in a season six times and topped the goal-kicking record for a year eight times – averaging 4.8 goals per game. He mixed in elite sports company – by 1976 he was cricket superstar Dennis Lillee’s manager and wanting to see if he could get the underpaid fast bowler a better deal from the game.


In 1970, D. K. (Keith) Lillee had been a young cricketer in a hurry. That year, at the age of 20, he began his first-class cricket career bowling for Western Australia, then quickly followed this up by taking 5–84 in his Test debut, the 1970–71 Ashes series. A year later, the young speedster announced to the world that something special had arrived – against a World XI that boasted Clive Lloyd, Garry Sobers and Sunil Gavaskar, he took 8 for 29. He then backed up in the Ashes tour of the following season in England by taking 31 wickets at the astounding average of 17.6. On the field this guy was terrifying the game’s best batsmen, off the field he began forging superstar status as a broad-chested, broad-shouldered, floppy-haired sex symbol. With natural smarts, sheer pace and matinee idol looks, by 1976 Lillee was well on the way to establishing himself as a legend – and figuring he still had a way to go.


‘Austin was staying with us at Neutral Bay and he asked me if I’d help manage Dennis Lillee,’ said Cornell, ‘So I said to Dennis “get a list of what you’re charging at the moment, I mightn’t be able to better it, but I might – and we’ll see how we go”. It was all very loose and friendly. Dennis put in a list and right at the top was “Nine months one week cricket – $8668”. Eight grand for nine months of cricket when you’re the best in the world? Well, this inflamed me. It’s ridiculous – what are these people doing? I can get this for two nights entertainment from Hoges. It soon became clear the players were getting ripped off. For a Sheffield Shield match Dennis Lillee was paid slightly more than the guy moving the sightscreen. I was really pissed off about this so it became a bit of a crusade’.


John Cornell on a ‘crusade’ is a sight for the ages. The guy is a walking contradiction, boyish, blond, a thoughtful, self-contained larrikin with a steel-trap mind, a man of professorial judgment who, once he has decided on a course of action, will walk through walls. Christopher Forsyth, in his 1978 book on World Series Cricket, The Great Cricket Hijack, wrote, ‘Though a calm, thoughtful character [Cornell] becomes a running knot of nervous energy when aroused. He enjoys the exchange of ideas and occasionally indulges in flippancy to hide the fact that he is an idealist with genuinely high standards, which very often lead him to doubting his own ability. He gets highly indignant when he sees or imagines people being cheated or hoodwinked and will make strenuous efforts to swing the balance their way. When told (later) that Dennis Lillee had been refused permission to park his car in his usual spot at the West Australian Cricket Association’s ground in Perth, Cornell went white with anger. Fighting to articulate his feelings he burst out, “It … it just lacks class!”.’


A few years later, Cornell and Hogan, completely under the radar, slipped over to the United States and did the celebrated ‘Slip an extra shrimp on the barbie’ TV ads for the Australian Tourism Commission. With Hogan’s face a familiar sight all over America, in 1984 the two friends, along with TV comedy writer Ken Shadie, came up with the screenplay for Crocodile Dundee. Cornell and Hogan then backed themselves, turning Croc Dundee into a spectacular global success. As producer Cornell didn’t pre-sell the movie to an overseas distributor – the normal practice. Sniffing that he had something special he held tight to his baby until it was finished. Only then did he do the deals. Thus he and Hoges (along with other partners including Kerry and a handful of World Series cricketers) effectively ‘owned’ the movie that went out and conquered the world. They cleaned up – Crocodile Dundee made a 730 per cent return to investors.


In 1976, Hogan and Cornell were still ‘Hoges’ and ‘Strop’, doing their TV gig, sitting round the Neutral Bay house plotting comedy for Channel 9 when they zeroed in on the idea of making some money for the players by slotting in extra cricket games at the end of each season. They figured why not add to the state-based Sheffield Shield and nation-based International Cricket setup. Get the ACB to arrange for the cream of the cricketers to simply play each other in a few matches – and the players would get most of the gate. The games would be based on the cricketers themselves and on the quality of cricket rather than on traditional state or district rivalries. Everybody on the field is a star. Everybody wins.


They zeroed in firstly on their star client Lillee, knowing just how badly the fast bowler was being treated by the game and its administrators.


‘We had a meeting’, says Cornell, ‘and I said to Dennis, “Can we approach the board and ask for money to be paid to cricketers direct, have some games at the end of the year or something?” Dennis suggested some one-day games, but everyone said they couldn’t trust the board – it was like a gentleman’s club and it’d be a waste of time approaching them. So I said to Dennis, “We could put on some extra games for TV – how would you feel about that?” And he said, “I’ll sign immediately and so would the rest of them”.’ Lillee then came up with a list of the Australian elite players who he assured them would jump at the chance to get involved.


Perfect. Cornell and Robertson went off to sound out the second necessary ingredient, 33-year-old Ian Chappell, all-round tough guy and talented former Australian captain who had retired from international cricket the previous season but was still playing for North Melbourne. Chappell, who took over the Australian team in 1971 and retired after winning the Ashes in England in 1975, was the perfect man for his time, a resourceful batsman and master slips fieldsman who took no prisoners on the field or off. Chappell’s aggressive larrikin charm took him into territory not many cricket captains ever dared to go. He sledged his opposition (he’s sometimes credited with inventing sledging – the dishing out of insults and witticisms to batsmen at the crease), he took on the authorities for better conditions for his players, he said what was on his mind and he never took a backward step. Later WSC supremo Andrew Caro wrote ‘his effort did more than any other to give World Series Cricket credibility’.


As Chappell tells it, ‘I was living in Adelaide and flying to Melbourne to play club cricket. I’d basically just fly in what I was wearing, play cricket on the Saturday and then on the Sunday I’d fly back to Adelaide’. He was bored and immediately open to the suggestion that he captain Australia if the maverick idea ever got off the ground. But he also warned Cornell and Robertson not to try going to the ACB. With no chance of support from the official side of cricket, Cornell realised the program was going to have to be backed with a bit of healthy seed funding.


‘That led me to thinking there’s only one guy in Australia with balls big enough to tackle this and pockets deep enough – Kerry Packer. So I said to Dennis, “Do you know Kerry Packer?” And he said no, and I said, “have you ever heard of him?” And he said no. I said “Lillee, you are such a fucking provincial”. He wasn’t anywhere near as famous then as he is now.’


As producer of a highly successful Channel 9 comedy series, a show brought into the fold by Kerry himself, Cornell had a close enough professional relationship with Kerry to be able to kick his door in. Cornell walked into the office and asked Kerry whether he would like some top class cricket on Channel 9, complete with ‘Dennis Lillee and the boys’.


‘Well,’ says Cornell, ‘his eyes lit up.’


Kerry asked how the hell he was going to pull this off, so Cornell, warming to his theme, explained how he and Austin Robertson were managing Dennis Lillee, how Lillee had promised to sign up and how the rest of the best of Australian cricketers would almost certainly follow. ‘Kerry responded with, “you’d better come back tomorrow, son”.’


Why the 24-hour delay? Why didn’t Kerry – eyes all alight – decide then and there to go for it? It was probably typical Packer not to leap in immediately. He knew instinctively that Cornell had brought him diamonds, yet he chose to send him away to mull for a while before making up his mind. It was a tactic, or at least a business strategy, learned from his father. One day was not going to make a bit of difference to this deal. But 24 hours of thinking might make a positive difference.


Kerry obviously slept well on the subject – as soon as Cornell walked into the office the following day Kerry’s first words were, ‘It’s on’.


Kerry’s view was that pissing round with just the Australian players wasn’t milking the idea for all it was worth. Leading Australian cricket writer Gideon Haigh, in The Cricket War, the definitive book on World Series Cricket, describes Kerry’s reply: ‘Why not do the thing properly. Let’s get the world’s best cricketers to play Australia’s best’.


Not just a game or two at the end of a season, or a ‘test’ match here and there, but a whole cricket tour played in parallel to the Establishment game. It was a stunningly audacious concept.


Cornell loved it, but immediately explained how he’d been warned the ACB would do its best to sabotage the deal if it got wind of what was going on and they’d be ‘cut off at the pass’. The whole affair had to be kept under wraps while he and Robertson went about signing players.


‘I said to Kerry, “can you keep secrets round here?” and he said, “we’re the best in town at that, son”.’


On that day the second planet moved into position. Kerry’s pique against the ACB and the Cornell/Hogan/Robertson daring idea came into alignment. It just needed one more element – the cricketers themselves.


Cornell was amazed at the willingness of the players to sign up. And Kerry later told the English High Court it was ‘frightening’ the way the players swarmed to the idea. With Dennis Lillee making initial calls to the players who were then approached by Robertson, Cornell or both, the clandestine plan was quickly put into effect.


But why were the world’s best cricketers so willing to turn their backs on the Establishment and risk their careers with the cricket boards? There was every chance in late 1976 that the whole thing would collapse, that the Establishment’s livid – and expected – reaction would be spiteful enough to leave the top cricketers high and dry, their careers in ruins. They all signed with the knowledge that there was a good chance of being banned from first-class cricket forever. But seemingly without any second thoughts the young up-and-coming stars like David Hookes, happily signed alongside veterans like Ian Chappell and Rodney Marsh.


Why? Because the cricketers were getting ripped off. Royally. They had been for years, and there was a simmering resentment against the authorities who ran the sport. Throughout the 1960s and 1970s the players had watched elite golfers, footballers, hockey players, basket-ballers, baseballers – just about everyone else – finessing their sporting abilities into making millions or at the very least, serious money. By contrast, the world’s best cricketers, not only in Australia but in England, the West Indies, India, Pakistan, New Zealand, were making something shy of the basic wage – for only part of the year. Rebellion was in the air. It was just a matter of time.


In 1978 Chris Forsyth described how Brian Taber, the Australian wicketkeeper for seven years, gave an example of the shabbiness of the rip-off. Taber reported that on the 1970 Australian tour of South Africa the ACB made a neat quarter of a million dollars profit (the money to be used for the benefit of Australian cricket), but when the team manager applied for a small $500 bonus for the players he was turned down flat.


There were many other examples. For the 1972 five-month, five-test Ashes tour the Australian players were paid a mere $2000 each. John Snow, a celebrated fast bowler who played for Sussex and England in the late sixties and early seventies spent the part of 1968–69 when he wasn’t playing first-class cricket, on the dole. A classic rip-off example involves the New South Wales and Victorian players in a four-day Sheffield Shield game in 1971. New South Wales won the match in three days, so none of the players got their $8 for the fourth day. There were stories of inedible food, miserly third-world accommodation, spouses banned from accompanying players on tour, tiny meal allowances. Everywhere they went Cornell and Robertson heard similar tales from disaffected players.


The cricketers’ hostility to their boards, growing for years, reached a new height just a year earlier in 1975 when the successful and immensely popular Australian Test players felt they deserved an increase in match payments. The reply from the ACB Secretary Alan Barnes brought the players to white-hot anger. ‘These are not professionals,’ he said, ‘They were invited to play, and if they don’t like the conditions there are five hundred thousand other cricketers in Australia who would love to take their places.’


It was the same all over. The cricket boards of the world were treating their chief income-earners like lab rats.


Now the planets were fully aligned. The third element – the players’ disaffection – brought about critical mass. The moment Cornell and Robertson fronted the players with written contracts their eyes lit up like Kerry’s and they reached for a pen.


First to join up was, of course, Dennis Lillee. In January 1977, during a Sheffield Shield game between Western Australia and South Australia, he signed a three-year contract worth a total of $105,000. Obviously it made him a very happy boy – that same day he ripped into the South Australian batsmen taking 5 for 44. Cornell and Robertson then went off cherry-picking the finest cricketers around the globe. World Series Cricket was born. For the next three years the game was in for a bumpy ride.
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Because he was slated to be captain and a major selector along with Kerry, Ian Chappell was called to the inner sanctum. ‘I remember flying in to Melbourne one day and there was a message waiting for me’, he says, ‘It was from Austin Robertson. “Jump on the next plane to Sydney. You’ve got a meeting with Kerry Packer”.’


‘So I jumped on this plane and flew to Sydney. I had a pair of jeans on and a cowboy shirt and a denim jacket. I went in and Kerry had this bloody sort of chair that used to tilt way back and he had his feet up on the desk with no shoes on. When I walked through the door there was no hello how are you or anything like that. He just said, “What are you? Some sort of fucking cowboy, are you?”’


‘Then it was, “Okay, who do you want on this fucking team?” I said, “Hang on Kerry, I’m not the captain. My brother Greg’s captain of Australia”.’


‘“What do you think this is, a fucking democracy?” he says, “I’m paying the bills – I’ll pick the captain. You’re the fucking captain. Now who do you want on the fucking team?”’


‘I said, “Well look – just so we don’t have a family problem here, can I at least make a phone call before you start announcing I’m the captain?” So I rang Greg and said, “Kerry wants me to captain the side”. He said, “Mate, I’ve had it for two years – it’s a bastard of a job. You’re welcome to it”.’


Kerry had made the right choice for the culture he had in mind for World Series Cricket – fast, attractive, tough, take-no-prisoners. Playing against a team with Ian Chappell as captain has been described as turning a cricket match into gang warfare.


With a player of Chappell’s stature on board and with Dennis Lillee riding shotgun, Cornell and Robertson set about spending Kerry’s money. Between Lillee’s signing on 10 January and the Australia/England Centenary Test in early March 1977, they managed to sign nine of the top Australian cricketers – the laconic champion batsman and part-time bowler Doug Walters, a man deeply loved by the Australian cricket public, plus Ian Redpath, Ross Edwards, Max Walker, Rick McCosker, Kerry O’Keefe and Greg Chappell.


Cornell and Robertson were chary of the younger Chappell. Unlike his rough-and-ready older brother, Greg Chappell was neat, clean, careful. He has been described as well organised, even schoolmasterish, known for his probity and integrity. They knew that if anyone was going to go off and warn the Board it would be this guy. It would be a gamble, but after pondering for some time they finally decided to risk it and take a punt on him. Show their hand and hope for the best.


‘So I went to his hotel room one night and sat down and talked for 20 minutes straight laying all my cards on the table, with him looking at me without the expression on his face changing one bit’, says Cornell, ‘You couldn’t tell whether he was going to be in it or not. You couldn’t tell whether he was going to run off to the board immediately as Australian captain and report it all.’


‘In the end I looked at him, he looked at me, and he said, “Count me in”.’


They sighed with relief and plunged on, buoyed by the fact that in their cat-and-mouse game with the ACB not one word was leaking out.
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The immortal Centenary Test arrived, beginning on 12 March 1977, and the ACB organised the contest as one befitting its historic importance. More than a hundred past players and ‘legends’ from all over the world were invited to Melbourne to be wined, dined and showcased in a cricket jubilee that went for nearly two weeks. This was cricket at its zenith, described by one newspaper headline as ‘Cricket’s Finest Hour’. As the old men gathered to reminisce, the game was never stronger, the anecdotes never funnier, the days of heroism and pain never more sharply recalled. Cricket was more than a game, it held all the idiosyncratic twists and turns, all the pain and the triumphs, of life itself.


And just to prove them right, the Centenary Test turned out to be a game for the ages, filled with many of the elements that make cricket such a unique sporting contest. Aficionados of the game will tell you this historic drama, played at the Melbourne Cricket Ground (MCG) – the same venue as the first Test in 1877 – was one of the most enduringly fascinating cricket matches ever held. On day one the huge crowd saw Australian batsman Rick McCosker slump to the ground when a bouncer from Bob Willis dropped him like a left hook. He had been slowly building an innings when a fastrising ball caught him unexpectedly, smashing his jaw. On day three, to help consolidate Australia’s lead, he returned to the crease, walking out onto the field in sunshine with his jaw wired up and his head swathed in white bandages. The crowd sang ‘Waltzing McCosker’.


Young batsman David Hookes, blond and boyish, was only 21, untried at Test level but with many of the Australian team predicting great things from him. He set himself, got his eye in, then announced his arrival at international level by belting England captain Tony Greig for five consecutive boundaries. The very next ball he was bowled by Derek Underwood.


In the first innings Dennis Lillee took an incredible 6 for 26. Then, in pain from a troublesome back and bowling on a completely dead wicket, he fronted up in the second innings and took 5 for 139.


During England’s second innings, England number three Derek Randall had one of those days batsmen will tell you happen on rare occasions. They see the ball coming out of the bowler’s hand and know exactly where it will land, their feet move magically into place, the ball arrives large as a melon, their bat is a foot wide…


Randall, a bouncy, high-octane player and personality, who’d never really done much in international cricket, swept through his first-ever Test century then plunged happily on through his 150, making it look for all the world as if he was going to take England to the win. With his score at 161 he was caught behind by Rodney Marsh. The crowd went crazy – this was the death-knell for England. But Marsh shook his head and indicated to the umpire he hadn’t taken the catch cleanly. The game was back on a knife-edge.


Randall finally went for 174. As he traipsed off to a standing ovation, grinning and waving at the crowd, the game was all but over. Lillee continued bowling, taking wickets, and his final, unplayable straight fast ball trapped Alan Knott LBW. Australia won by 45 runs – the exact same margin they had won in 1877.


The match went down in history only partly because of the action on the field. At the moment of the game’s greatest triumph cricket had a worm in its entrails. The Australian dressing room after the game was a scene of triumphant jubilation, the players drinking long-necks of beer, laughing, congratulating each other – and mixing happily in there with them were Bob Parish, Ray Steele and a handful of other cricket administrators. Like some character out of a cheap spy movie Austin Robertson walked in carrying a briefcase. It held $75,000 in cheques. As Parish and Steele looked on, vaguely wondering what this was all about, Robertson moved amongst the players handing them their initial WSC payments. ‘Here’s your theatre tickets, guys!’


‘That’s how we did it’, he said later, ‘and though it seems unbelievable, no one suspected a thing.’


Kerry now needed to lock up his overseas players, starting with the most important of them all, Tony Greig, riding high in popularity in England and Australia after coming so close to winning the Centenary Test. Austin Robertson teed up the meeting and Greig flew to Sydney.


On 22 March 1977 Tony Greig walked into Kerry’s office with his friend and business manager 29-year-old Bruce Francis, a handy, popular batsman who had batted for New South Wales and Essex and had even played three test matches for Australia. As it happened these three had a conversation at a social function a year earlier about cricket on TV. Kerry had been, even then, mulling over how best to maximise sport on his network.


As Greig tells it, as soon as he entered the office Kerry offered him $30,000 a season for three seasons. To any other cricketer this was gold. But Greig was unique amongst the players, way ahead of his time, already making good money from his ‘brand’ and soon to be the world’s first cricket millionaire. Thanks partly to Francis and partly to his own entrepreneurial abilities, he was spruiking Kellogs, Waltons, The Australian Women’s Weekly, Golden Books and the airline TAA. He was well paid on the speakers’ circuit and well connected all over. Mick Jagger had already agreed to appear at a Tony Greig benefit concert at Wembley Stadium – a gig that, if it came off, had the chance of making Greig a fortune.


With this as leverage, Greig prised from Kerry an extra $10,000 for being the WSC World captain. He then negotiated ‘a job for life’ working for CPH and a low-interest housing loan in case he left England and decided to buy a place in Australia. The previous season he had played for Waverley in Sydney, living in Vaucluse and loving the Australian lifestyle. Kerry acceded to all this then asked if he wanted any more ‘licks of the lolly’. Francis did. He wanted Kerry to give a personal guarantee, in writing, that Greig would get every penny.


That was it. The famous Kerry temper came bubbling up.


‘Where did you fucking find him?!’ he said, pointing at Francis, ‘There wouldn’t be a businessman in Sydney – or Australia for that matter – who wouldn’t accept my personal guarantee. I sold the Telegraph to Murdoch for sixteen million in the back of a car, and here I’ve got a snotty-nosed kid wanting my guarantee in writing for a lousy forty grand a year. You and your mate have got to be fucking kidding.’


Francis kept pushing and Kerry’s displeasure rose. He whirled on Greig.


‘Is your fucking mate deaf or just fucking dumb?’ he asked, ‘If you two want to play big businessmen you can go into that room next door and pore through the contract. I promise you it’s not bugged. You can keep me waiting an hour or two and pretend I’m in here trembling about whether you’re going to sign or not. Then when you’ve finished your silly games you can come back and sign the fucking thing’.


It took Greig a week of agonised soul-searching, but in the end he signed – also agreeing to act as recruiting officer in collecting the World team. It was a courageous decision. This guy had a lot to lose, more than any of the others. He knew he was taking his career and his hard-earned good name into unknown, dangerous territory.


A short time later, Greig and Robertson signed up the charismatic and Hollywood-good-looking Pakistani paceman Imran Khan and his cousin Majid, plus Pakistan vice-captain and veteran batsman Asif Iqbal and the popular Mushtaq ‘Mushie’ Mohammad.


Then came another jewel in the crown. Only 33 but already venerable, Clive Hubert Lloyd, known as ‘Hubie’ or ‘Supercat’ to the cricketers, also signed for $90,000 for three years. Tall, bespectacled, hunched and awkward, Lloyd doesn’t look anything like an elite sportsman. He slouches to the crease wearing glasses and carrying a bat most people would have trouble lifting (he built himself up by pressing weights as a kid), then proceeds to pound bowlers to all parts of the ground. No matter how fast the ball, Hubie always seemed to have all the time in the world to decide what to do with it. The cricketers will tell you when Lloyd was having a good day there was simply nothing to be done but run about like chooks trying to cut off fours. Lloyd began his first-class cricket career for Guyana in 1963 and had been captain of the West Indies since 1974. In 1976, he equalled the then record for the fastest double-century in first-class cricket by belting 201 not out in 120 minutes for the West Indies against Glamorgan. Without raising a sweat.


Lloyd was brought up in struggletown. His father – who died when Lloyd was 14 – a chauffeur to a local doctor. Young Clive was bright, worked hard at school, went to the Anglican Church every Sunday, and lived for cricket. Without money for the entrance fee to local cricket fields Clive and his mates would watch the games on a ‘bird ticket’ – from the branches of trees outside the ground. (Australian cricketers used to enjoy trying to hit a six into the trees. The kids would see the ball coming and drop to the ground in bunches.)


When he started playing cricket in Guyana there was unofficial segregation in the country – white and Portuguese played for one club, blacks for another – and young Clive took note.


Unlike most of the other West Indian players, Lloyd, grave and soft-spoken, was able to articulate his black conscience. He was inspired by Hollywood actor Sidney Poitier who broke new ground for black actors in the sixties, and the heroic West Indies cricketers of the generation before him. ‘I loved the way Poitier strutted when he walked, in the same way I loved the way Garry Sobers walked to the wicket, the way Wes Hall marked out his run up. These things influenced me because these men were saying, “We’re on our way up”. Seeing those things was as important to me, as influential and memorable, as seeing our flag go up for the first time or seeing a black prime minister in the Caribbean. They showed that we were moving somewhere. My ancestors, Garry Sobers’ ancestors, Wes Hall’s ancestors, they all came from Africa. My real hope is that the countries where these people were taken from will one day become great cricketing countries.’


As he grew in stature in the game, Lloyd saw clearly the politico-cultural side of being captain of West Indies cricket. ‘When I made a decision of consequence as the West Indies captain,’ he once said, ‘it was of more importance than any one prime minister in the Caribbean. They were only making decisions for one territory – I was making them for the whole of the West Indies’.


He went further, understanding the racially historical dimension of cricket in the West Indies, a game handed down to the black people of the string of islands by its colonial masters, the English. The people of the Caribbean saw themselves as discrete groups, but Lloyd railed against inter-island rivalry and from 1974 to April 1977, when he signed with WSC, he forged his West Indies players into a complete whole, developing team harmony by mixing the guys up, rooming players from different islands in with each other, putting junior players with senior ones, batsmen with bowlers. He kept control by being the ‘the leader’, the father figure, consciously forging a team of terrifying effectiveness and pride. His players, legends such as Viv Richards, Joel Garner, Andy Roberts, Gordon Greenidge, Michael Holding and Roy Fredericks (all of whom signed with WSC) were gifted, natural sportsmen, but still Lloyd, particularly after the genesis of WSC, insisted on a punishing regimen of physical fitness and cricket training. And to his notorious late-night party men he introduced a curfew. Be on the bus in the morning or else. Lloyd’s team bus never waited more than five minutes after its scheduled departure time. When the bus pulled away from the hotel, heading to yet another great cricket ground, it held the most fearsome and glorious cricket team the world had ever seen.


With a man of Lloyd’s pre-eminence on board it was a simple matter for Greig and Robertson to sign up the other West Indians on their list – all they had to do was tell them Hubie had joined up and the players would grab for the pen. There was just one hiccup. Fast bowler Michael Holding – the man credited with the most flowingly beautiful run up and delivery on any cricket field ever – heard that WSC would include South Africans. Holding was Jamaican and acutely aware his government had banned all sporting links with Apartheid South Africa. He insisted, and got, a special escape clause that could nullify his contract – just in case.


In the early seventies, the official South African team, made up entirely of white-skinned players, was only authorised to play what were considered white nations – England, Australia and New Zealand. Top South African cricketers Eddie Barlow, Mike Procter and Barry Richards had immediately taken off for England where they all flourished in English County cricket. Greig, who had been playing against them in Britain, wanted all three, as well as champion batsman Graeme Pollock and leg-spinner Denys Hobson.


At this point, the top-secret WSC had its first dodgy moment. When Hobson, Richards, Barlow, Procter and Pollock all (paid for by Kerry) got on a London-bound plane to talk to Greig, nosey South African journalists started sniffing around. Five champion cricketers all heading off together? Why? What’s going on? And things got dodgier still when the South African Sunday Times reported that four of the cricketers had ‘signed lucrative contracts to play an eight-week series of matches throughout the world’. But the story quickly faded, the journalists were easily convinced that the players had vague County Cricket obligations in Britain. And besides, the story stayed in South Africa – none of the international wire services could confirm it. In London in April 1977 all five signed on.


Champion Australians such as wicketkeeper Rodney Marsh, lightning-fast bowler Jeff Thomson, and the young tyro David Hookes also signed on, as did top English players like veteran fast bowler John Snow and wicketkeeper Alan Knott. By the end of April 1977, WSC had 18 Australians and 17 international players. Thirty-five. The cream of the world’s cricketers. All done behind a wall of silence – not a word had leaked out.


In another strategic move, Kerry, obviously thinking in the longer term, signed up two of cricket’s elder statesmen Richie Benaud and Sir Garfield Sobers.


At the time he was recruited, Sir Garfield St Aubrun Sobers was only 41 but already a knight. He was a freakish all-round player who could bat sublimely, bowl spin and fast-medium and an astonishing fieldsman who could with no apparent effort flick a ball 70 metres to an inch over the bails. Benaud has described him as ‘the greatest all-round cricketer the world has seen’. A popular man with a gap-toothed grin, a dual citizen of Australia and Barbados, ‘Garry’ made his first-class cricket debut at the age of 16, then went on to successfully captain the West Indies. In 1968 he became the first batsman in history to hit six sixes from one over, a sensational feat once considered impossible at the top level but one cricketers had secretly aspired to for the past 100 years (it’s been done three times since, but only once more in first-class cricket, the others were in a one-dayer and a twenty-over T20 match).


Richie Benaud was only 22 when he made his Australian Test debut back in 1951–52 against the West Indies, starting slowly and unspectacularly then flowering into one of the great forces of Australian and world cricket. Like Sobers he was a batsman, a spin bowler and an outstanding fieldsman, but it was his aggressive, tactical captaincy that made him legend. And his character. Benaud’s forceful personality meant that his troops would follow him straight into the jaws of hell, and the cricket public straight through the turnstiles. He made a successful career as a cricketer, retired as Australian captain in 1964 then went on to become one of the game’s iconic radio and TV commentators. Gideon Haigh has described him as ‘perhaps the most influential cricket personality since the Second World War’.


Alongside his wife Daphne, Benaud ran a sports consultancy business. In early April 1977 he met Kerry in his office and was asked if his company would represent WSC. Benaud said later he had difficulty believing that the whole thing had been kept under wraps for so long. Richie and Daphne plunged in, quickly becoming a highly efficient and indispensible part of the WSC administrative machine. Richie, master diplomat and cool guy, danced elegantly along the fine line between the rebel WSC and the Establishment, the man who knew the opposition from the inside, who could think like them, who could give invaluable advice on tactics and strategy. WSC heavies still eulogise Benaud’s part in the success of the whole enterprise, though Benaud himself modestly brushes off the praise.


Sobers, meanwhile acted as elder statesman and eminence grise, bringing the formidable power of his name and presence to the organisation. At press conferences, journalists would not be fronting up just to speak with Kerry, the man seen as the destroyer of cricket. They would be faced with Kerry, John Cornell, Tony Greig, plus the gravitas of Sobers and Benaud. World Series Cricket packed an awful lot of firepower up front. When the story finally broke, the Establishment knew immediately it was not dealing with some greedy Aussie businessman and bunch of rat-arsed sportsmen. One look at Benaud and Sobers and the world’s cricket authorities knew they had a major schism on their hands.
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As with many aspects of WSC, the exact details of how the story finally broke is shrouded in mystery. Who was the person who blabbed to the press? All reports agree that whoever it was, he had been doing quite a bit of drinking at a barbecue on the evening of Saturday, 7 May, put on by Tony Greig and his wife Donna at their grand UK Brighton home for the Australian players in England for the mid 1977 Ashes series. The party started off with a bang, more than a hundred people of the cricket world assembled at the home of the popular England captain under marquee lights in his large backyard, drinking champagne and Fosters beer through the damp night, cricket enemies enfolded by camaraderie and a love of the game. But at some critical moment the mood changed. Word spread like a virus that a couple of reporters had blown the story wide open – the World Series genie was out of the bottle. The party turned into something like the military high command’s whispering inner sanctum on the eve of major war.


It’s best told by Henry Blofeld, at the time the doyen of British cricket writers, in his book on WSC, The Packer Affair.


‘It was at that party,’ he writes, ‘that Greig and the other Packer players heard that their plans were about to be published in Australia. There were about 150 people in the marquee in Greig’s garden and the party was in full swing, according to one of the guests Alan Lee of the Sunday Telegraph, Greig even had a bottle of champagne in his hand when he was told. He was naturally greatly concerned, and the party rapidly developed into a council of war as those involved gathered in whispering groups. Those who did not know what was happening could not understand what was going on, and the night was full of furtive, sidelong glances; by the end it was apparently difficult to distinguish those who knew from those who did not.’


The two journalists credited by history with breaking the story – one of the great scoops of sports reporting – were Australians Peter McFarline writing for the Fairfax papers The Age and the Sydney Morning Herald, and Alan Shiell a former Sheffield Shield batsman for South Australia, reporting for News Limited’s the Daily Telegraph and The Australian. The pair had been sniffing round the story for months and getting nowhere. Any mention of a rebel cricket tour brought immediate denials  from anyone they spoke to. But like the experienced newsmen they were, they kept digging, sniffing, pooling their intelligence, knowing they were onto some kind of great revelation. They’d got their latest denial just that morning from Greg Chappell. When McFarline and Shiell buttonholed him in a corridor outside the Australian dressing room Chappell had listened politely then replied with, ‘You can say this: “It sounds an interesting proposition – I’d like to know more about it”.’ McFarline said that at the time Chappell had ‘only a hint of a smile on his face’.


The two reporters arrived at Tony Greig’s house that night, notebooks in hand, knowing that alcohol was their secret weapon. Beneath the coloured lights they chatted amiably with various Australian players, probing, probing. Blofeld later reported that Alan Shiell had got the story from an Australian player and ‘although Shiell was evasive about which one, it was thought to have been David Hookes, who was known to have had serious doubts about the wisdom of signing for Packer’.


When they decided to secretly file their articles to Australia on the night of the Brighton party, bringing the whole wall of silence crashing down, McFarline and Shiell were writing vague detail and speculation put together from snippets of half-information. Later they were gobsmacked at how big the story really was. McFarline wrote that he and Shiell had ‘pieced together the broad outline’ of WSC but that ‘neither of us quite realised its extent, even by the time we came to break the story from Hove on 7 May 1977, in time for the morning papers in Australia on 9 May’.


The morning of Monday, 9 May 1977 was sunnier in Sydney than it was in Brighton. Knowing the shit was about to hit the fan, Tony Greig rang Kerry with the news, then decided to issue a press statement which prompted more questions than it answered. ‘There is a massive cricket project involving most of the world’s top players due to commence in Australia this (northern) winter,’ it said, ‘I am part of it, along with a number of English players. Full details and implications of the scheme will be officially announced in Australia later this week.’


The Fleet Street reporters, comprehensively scooped, had to let fly with what they had. The news was so hot it swept off the sports pages onto the front pages of the world’s newspapers and dominated radio and television news bulletins. The Daily Mail’s Ian Wooldridge who, like McFarline and Shiell, had been digging away for months and had been fast closing on the full story, was the best-informed of the English journalists. Under the banner headline ‘World’s Top Cricketers Turn Pirate’, Wooldridge described the 35 rebel players as ‘dogs of cricket’ but went on to say ‘… far from being a shock development, I suggest that the only surprise about what happened at the weekend was that it was so long delayed. If the game’s administrators failed to see it coming, then they are low in perception’.


Wooldridge’s editorial attitude was one point of view, the one shared by the cricketers who had signed up, and also by Kerry and Cornell. A short time later a similar stance was taken by President of the West Indies Cricket Board of Control (WICBC), Jeff Stollmeyer: ‘I don’t see how anyone can condemn the players. After all, their careers are not all that permanent. I do not think that in the longer term that exhibition matches will attract either the interest or the gates that Test matches will’.





OEBPS/title_image_1_online.png
HOWZAT!

KERRY PACKER
AND THE

GREAT CRICKET WAR

CHRISTOPHER LEE






OEBPS/9781908699466_cover_epub.jpg
AS SEEN ON BBC FOUR

KERRY PACKER AND THE GREAT CRICKET WAR

CHRISTOPHER LEE






OEBPS/a003_1_online.png





